#### East Tennessee State University

# Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University

Undergraduate Honors Theses

Student Works

5-2022

# COVID-19 IN TENNESSEE: LESSONS LEARNED AND A TOOL FOR THE FUTURE

Allen Archer

Randy Wykoff East Tennessee State University

Megan Quinn East Tennessee State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://dc.etsu.edu/honors

Part of the Epidemiology Commons, Health Services Administration Commons, Health Services Research Commons, and the Public Health Education and Promotion Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Archer, Allen; Wykoff, Randy; and Quinn, Megan, "COVID-19 IN TENNESSEE: LESSONS LEARNED AND A TOOL FOR THE FUTURE" (2022). *Undergraduate Honors Theses.* Paper 729. https://dc.etsu.edu/honors/729

This Honors Thesis - Withheld is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Works at Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Undergraduate Honors Theses by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. For more information, please contact digilib@etsu.edu.

# COVID-19 IN TENNESSEE: LESSONS LEARNED AND A TOOL FOR THE FUTURE

By: Allen Archer

An Undergraduate Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Midway Honors Scholar Program In the Honors College and the Department of Health Services Management and Policy East Tennessee State University March 15, 2022

Allen Archer

Author: Allen Archer Bachelor of Science in Health Administration Student East Tennessee State University

Tang wyther

**Faculty Mentor:** Dr. Randy Wykoff Dean, College of Public Health Professor, Department of Health Services Management and Policy

Second Reader: Dr. Megan Quinn Associate Professor, Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics

# ABSTRACT

**Background:** In late 2019, the SARS-CoV-2 virus was identified in Wuhan, China. Within a matter of weeks, the virus spread to the United States and many other countries around the world. By March 5, 2020, the first case of COVID-19 (the disease caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus) was identified in the state of Tennessee, and the first known COVID-19 associated death in the state followed on March 20, 2020. In 2020 alone, there were 514,922 confirmed cases and 6,760 COVID-19 attributed deaths in the state of Tennessee. It is important to understand, however, that confirmed COVID-19 deaths do not accurately capture the overall impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Many additional deaths resulted either directly from COVID-19 disease, or indirectly from the COVID-19 pandemic. This report seeks to briefly summarize the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic and its immediate impact on the state of Tennessee and outline a novel tool for rapidly identifying excess mortality using publicly available data.

**Methods:** Calculating excess mortality is likely to accurately capture the total deaths that occurred because of the COVID-19 pandemic, including deaths that may not have been directly attributed to COVID-19 disease. To calculate excess mortality, four years (2017-2020) of data were collected from three sources, online funeral home listings, newspaper obituaries, and the state health department. Using simple linear regression, number of deaths by month for 2017, 2018 and 2019 were used to predict expected deaths, by data source, for each month of 2020 as the baseline for comparison. The percent difference of actual deaths from the expected deaths was then calculated and compared by data source.

**Results:** By quarter, 2020 actual funeral home listings differed from the expected by Q1: -9.29%, Q2: 11.50%, Q3: 7.36% and Q4: 55.90%. Newspaper obituaries differed from the expected by Q1: 8.05%, Q2: 20.00%, Q3: 9.93% and Q4: 44.55%. State reported Washington County data differed from the expected by Q1: 7.68%, Q2: 18.85%, Q3: 12.21%, Q4: 48.91%.

When comparing online funeral listings and newspaper obituaries to state reported data for Washington County, it is clear that either of the public data sources could have been used to identify spikes in excess mortality throughout 2020.

**Conclusion:** These findings reveal that publicly available online funeral home death listings and local newspaper obituaries can be used as a tool to help identify spikes in excess mortality in 'real-time'. The most notable impact being that the newspaper obituary and funeral home data was available in near real time, whereas the state reported Washington County data was not made available until October of 2021.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to send a sincere thank you to Dr. Nagesh Aragam, with the Tennessee Department of Health; Lisa Krekelberg, with the Johnson City Public Library; and Preston McKee, with Morris-Baker Funeral Homes. All three aided in data collection and provided valuable insight that was used in the creation of this report.

I would also like to thank Dr. Megan Quinn for serving as my second reader and for her guidance on this project, and many others, during my time at East Tennessee State University. I look forward to continuing to learn from her as I make my way through graduate school and into my career.

Additionally, I would like to thank my wife, Melissa, for all the time she devoted to helping me with this project, despite carrying the load of her own doctoral dissertation and many other projects.

Finally, I would like to thank Dr. Randy Wykoff for going far beyond the duties of a thesis mentor. His continuous guidance and support throughout my time at ETSU has been a cornerstone of my personal and professional development. His unwavering commitment to student success is part of what makes the College of Public Health at ETSU such a wonderful place to learn.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	1
Acknowledgments	2
Section 1: The COVID-19 Pandemic in Tennessee	4
Introduction Background COVID-19 Pandemic Timeline	4 4 4
The Hammer and the Dance	7
Tennessee's Initial Shutdown	8
Tennessee's Subsequent Action	9
Conclusion	10
Section 2: Using Public Funeral and Obituary Listings to Identify Spikes in Excess Mortality	11
Introduction Background Methods	11 11 12
Establishing a Calculation of Excess Mortality	12
Establishing the Value of Funeral Home and Newspaper Obituary Data	12
Results	13
Washington County: Month-by-Month Excess Mortality	13
Using Funeral Home and Newspaper Obituary Data	14
Discussion Limitations Conclusion	17 19 20
References	21

# SECTION 1: THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC IN TENNESSEE

#### INTRODUCTION

In late 2019, the SARS-CoV-2 virus was identified in Wuhan, China.<sup>1,2</sup> Within a matter of weeks, the virus had spread to the United States and many other countries around the world.<sup>3</sup> By March 5, 2020, the first case of COVID-19 (the disease caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus) was identified in the state of Tennessee (TN), and the first known COVID-19 associated death in the state followed on March 20, 2020.<sup>4,5</sup> In 2020 alone, there were 514,922 confirmed cases and 6,760 deaths from COVID-19 in the state of Tennessee, as reported by the Tennessee Department of Health.<sup>6</sup> It will take several years to fully understand the factors that enabled the rapid spread of the SARS-CoV-2 virus and its impact on the people of Tennessee. This section will examine the timeline and some of the characteristics that enabled COVID-19 to become a global pandemic. From there, the focus will narrow in on how the United States, and the state of Tennessee specifically, responded to the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. Section 2 will focus on the potential to utilize unique data sources to identify early spikes in excess mortality that might have informed the COVID-19 response.

#### BACKGROUND

The name Coronavirus is derived from the appearance of this family of viruses as they are spherical in shape and composed of an outer lipid layer covered with a "crown" of club-shaped protein spikes.<sup>7</sup> The term corona is derived from the Latin word for crown.<sup>7</sup> Despite the novelty of the SARS-CoV-2 virus (the virus that causes COVID-19), coronaviruses are not new.<sup>8</sup> This family of viruses is responsible for multiple known diseases that primarily target the upper respiratory system and can range in severity from mild symptoms to acute respiratory failure and death.<sup>9</sup> Coronaviruses typically spread from person-to-person through airborne transmission, which can result in a high level of transmissibility.<sup>10–13</sup>

Two coronaviruses have been documented to cause severe illness. In November 2002, The Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS) outbreak, caused by a coronavirus (SARS-CoV), began in South China and spread to 29 countries.<sup>9</sup> The SARS outbreak caused about 8,000 known infections and 774 deaths before it was contained in July 2003.<sup>14</sup> Similarly, the Middle East Respiratory Syndrome (MERS) outbreak was caused by another coronavirus called MERS-CoV, and was first reported in Saudi Arabia in September 2012.<sup>9</sup> MERS-CoV spread to 27 countries, caused about 2,500 known infections, and 866 deaths by January 2020.<sup>9,15</sup>

#### **COVID-19 PANDEMIC TIMELINE**

While caused by a similar coronavirus, the COVID-19 pandemic has far exceeded SARS and MERS in global spread, cases, and deaths.<sup>9</sup> In 2020 alone, the United States surpassed 20 million known infections from SARS-CoV-2, and more than 346,000 deaths.<sup>16</sup> Globally, infections topped 83,000,000 and there were 1,824,590 deaths reported in 2020.<sup>16</sup> Some of the

milestones during the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic beginning with its initial discovery in Wuhan, China and concluding with more granular events in the state of Tennessee, as summarized in Figure 1.



# Pandemic Milestone Timeline

FIGURE 1 – COVID-19 PANDEMIC MILESTONE TIMELINE (2019-2020)

# DISCOVERY

As previously mentioned, the SARS-CoV-2 virus was originally identified in Wuhan, China in late December 2019 and traced to a large seafood and animal market.<sup>2</sup> This pattern of disease transmission initially from animals to humans is in line with many common diseases known as zoonotic diseases.<sup>17,18</sup> There is still some debate about the exact origin of the SARS-CoV-2 virus, but it is widely believed that it originated in bats, traveled through an intermediate host, then mutated to infect humans.<sup>1</sup>

# FIRST COVID-19 DEATH

On January 11, 2020, Chinese authorities announced the first known death caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus.<sup>3,19</sup> The 61-year-old man was known to be a regular customer at the market in Wuhan where the novel virus was discovered.<sup>19</sup>

#### FIRST CASE IDENTIFIED IN THE U.S.

On January 20, 2020, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) confirmed the first case of COVID-19 in the U.S. in Washington state.<sup>20</sup> The infected man, who was in his 30s and a resident of Snohomish County, Washington, developed symptoms after returning from a trip to the region around Wuhan.<sup>21</sup>

# EMERGENCY DECLARATION

On January 31, 2020, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services declared a public health emergency for the United States.<sup>22</sup>

# FIRST U.S. DEATH

There are conflicting reports regarding the first COVID-19 attributable death in the United States. Early in the pandemic it was believed that the first death was in Washington state on February 28, 2020.<sup>23</sup> Subsequently, a death that had occurred on February 6, 2020, in the San Francisco Bay area was identified as a COVID-19 death.<sup>23,24</sup>

# FIRST CASE IDENTIFIED IN TENNESSEE

On March 5, 2020, the Tennessee Department of Health announced that the first case of COVID-19 in the state was identified in an adult male from Williamson County who had recently traveled out-of-state.<sup>5</sup>

# FIRST TENNESSEE DEATH

On March 20, 2020, a 73-year-old man in Davidson County, Tennessee died due to complications from COVID-19.<sup>4</sup> He was the first known person to die from COVID-19 in the state of Tennessee.

# QUANTIFYING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC IN 2020

In 2020, the United States surpassed 20 million infections from SARS-CoV-2, and more than 346,000 deaths.<sup>16</sup> In terms of total death, COVID-19 is the deadliest pandemic in U.S. history, surpassing the 1918 influenza pandemic.<sup>25</sup> To put these numbers into perspective, the CDC estimates between 12,000 and 52,000 people die each year in the United States from annual influenza disease outbreaks.<sup>26</sup> Even when comparing the high end of that estimate (52,000 annual deaths), the COVID-19 pandemic killed over 6 times more people in the U.S. in 2020.

In the state of Tennessee, there were 514,922 confirmed cases and 6,760 deaths attributed to COVID-19 in 2020.<sup>6</sup> These 6,760 deaths exceed the equivalent of two 9/11 terrorist attacks happening in the state of Tennessee in the same year.<sup>27</sup> It is also important to note that these confirmed COVID-19 specific deaths do not encompass the total burden of death due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The concepts of excess mortality and indirect burden of death will be discussed in more detail in Chapter 2.

#### THE HAMMER AND THE DANCE

Strategies for responding to infectious disease outbreaks have long been established by epidemiologists and other public health professionals.<sup>28,29</sup> These strategies tend to revolve around the fundamental ideas of surveillance, containment, and development of treatment/vaccines.<sup>28,29</sup> In March of 2020, Tomas Pueyo published an article outlining a framework to decrease the impact of COVID-19 disease spread that aligns with, and summarizes, these long-established guiding principles.<sup>30</sup> Pueyo's theory is referred to as "The hammer and the dance". The hammer refers to strict initial lockdown measures aimed at containing the spread of disease, and the dance refers to the surveillance, testing, contact tracing, isolation/quarantine, and eventual vaccination that allows for safe reopening.<sup>30</sup> The primary purpose of this comprehensive public health approach is not to eradicate an infectious disease, but to slow the spread of disease, to prevent the healthcare system from being overwhelmed, and to buy time while vaccinations and therapies are developed and tested. If done properly, this would allow people to return to most of their normal activities within a couple of months with some restrictions in place such as group gathering limits, masking in public spaces, and regular testing.<sup>30</sup>

This ability to return to a life that closely resembles pre-pandemic times would be made possible by initially enforcing strict lockdown measures at the first sign of community outbreaks to halt the spread of disease before reaching the exponential phase of transmission, when a disease can be nearly impossible to contain. Another key element necessary for this framework to be effective is for regional, state, and federal leaders to utilize the time in lockdown to create and mobilize robust testing, contact tracing, treatment/vaccine rollout plans, and other prevention infrastructure in preparation for disease outbreaks as communities emerge from lockdowns.

Below is a graph (Figure 2) created by Tomas Pueyo, that provides a visual representation of the hammer and the dance theory.<sup>30</sup> The black line represents the number of COVID-19 cases if the disease were allowed to spread naturally. The red line represents the number of COVID-19 cases if only mitigation strategies (such as case isolation, reducing large public gatherings, wearing masks, etc.) are employed.<sup>30</sup> Finally, the green curve represents the number of COVID-19 cases when employing the hammer and the dance framework.



FIGURE 2 – HAMMER AND THE DANCE THEORY VIZUALIZATION <sup>30</sup>

# **TENNESSEE'S INITIAL SHUTDOWN**

Looking at the initial response to COVID-19, the proverbial hammer phase, Tennessee did briefly employ lockdown measures.<sup>31</sup> Through executive order NO. 27, Tennessee Governor Bill Lee issued an official lockdown on March 30, 2020, 10 days after the first COVID-19 death in the state and 25 days after the first confirmed case in TN.<sup>4,5,31</sup> These lockdown measures prohibited social gatherings of 10 or more people; directed restaurants, bars, and similar food and drink establishments to offer take-out or delivery options only; directed gyms and fitness/exercise centers to temporarily close and suspend in-person services; restricted visitation in nursing homes, retirement homes, and long-term care or assisted-living facilities; and required that all persons in Tennessee stay at home unless engaging in essential activity or essential services.<sup>31</sup> This executive order was effective until April 30, 2020, which is shorter than the recommended lockdown time outlined in "the hammer and the dance" framework.<sup>30,31</sup> However, when executive order NO. 27 expired on April, 30, 2020, despite increasing COVID-19 case numbers in the state, the lockdown measures were lifted.<sup>6,31,32</sup> This timeline is represented in Figure 3.



FIGURE 3<sup>\*</sup> – TENNESSEE EXECUTIVE ORDER LOCKDOWN TIMELINE <sup>33</sup>

**TENNESSEE'S SUBSEQUENT ACTION** 

By May 2020, the month-long lockdown measures in the state of TN had been lifted.<sup>31,32</sup> As previously outlined, for the hammer and the dance framework to be effective and life to return to near pre-pandemic conditions, this lockdown time should have been used by state, regional, and local elected and public health officials to acquire and mobilize robust testing, contact tracing, treatment/vaccine rollout plans, and other proactive prevention. In Tennessee, like much of the country during the early stages of the pandemic, proper steps had not been taken to adequately prepare for safe reopening. Therefore, as reflected in Figure 2, case numbers began drastically increasing again in Tennessee after a brief plateau during lockdown.<sup>33,34</sup>

One of the shortfalls that led to the lockdown/reopening measures being ineffective was the lack of available COVID-19 tests in the United States during that time.<sup>35,36</sup> Despite the early identification and publication of the SARS-CoV-2 genome, which allowed for the development of specified testing for the virus, the United States struggled to develop an effective test or obtain tests/supplies from other countries.<sup>37,38</sup> One of the fundamental tenants of containing disease spread is the ability to identify infected populations through robust testing.<sup>39</sup> Without access to testing, it was nearly impossible to conduct effective surveillance.

Contact tracing is the next major line of defense in quenching disease spread.<sup>40</sup> Effective contact tracing relies on both extensive testing and a robust public health work force capable of conducting thorough investigations.<sup>41</sup> Unfortunately, over the last several years, the state of Tennessee, along with many other states in the U.S., has consistently reduced funding for public

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>\*</sup> The solid vertical line marks the date of lockdown, and the dashed vertical line marks the lifting of lockdown restrictions.<sup>33</sup> The vertical axis shows daily confirmed COVID-19 cases, and the horizontal axis is months in 2020.

health infrastructure.<sup>42,43</sup> This trend has resulted in a depleted public health work force that made the state more vulnerable and less prepared to combat disease spread.<sup>43,44</sup>

Another hurdle that prevented a safe and effective reopening was the inconsistent adoption of universal mask mandates, quarantine measures, and other best practices to help prevent the spread of disease.<sup>45</sup> Tennessee Governor, Bill Lee, signed an executive order (in July 2020) giving each county their own authority to enforce masking.<sup>46</sup> Beyond that, little was done at the state level to encourage counties to utilize these measures. A growing body of evidence supports the relationship between political affiliation and pandemic preparedness and overall response.<sup>47–50</sup> Despite drastic increases in COVID-19 case numbers, hospitalizations, and deaths as 2020 wore on, Republican led states hesitant to implement universal masking, limit public gatherings, impose quarantine measures, and eventually even vaccination efforts.<sup>50</sup>

# CONCLUSION

Soon after the Sars-CoV-2 virus was discovered, it had spread to nearly every country in the world and the death toll began rising dramatically by the second quarter of 2020. In response to the increasing threat that COVID-19 posed, the United States opted to delegate the pandemic response onto the states, counties, and smaller communities.<sup>51</sup> Therefore, each state was responsible for responding to the pandemic with limited input and support from national leadership. In 2020, hundreds of thousands of Tennesseans were infected with Sars-CoV-2 and thousands of Tennessee lives were lost. However, it could be argued that even with a complete lockdown of Tennessee for a longer period, many lives would still have been lost since SARS-CoV-2 continued to spread globally and would have likely been reintroduced to Tennessee when lockdown measures were lifted.

# SECTION 2: USING PUBLIC FUNERAL AND OBITUARY LISTINGS TO IDENTIFY SPIKES IN EXCESS MORTALITY

#### INTRODUCTION

In 2020, the Tennessee Department of Health reported 6,760 deaths from COVID-19 in Tennessee, the first occurring on March 20.<sup>6,52</sup> However, it is important to understand that confirmed COVID-19 deaths do not completely capture the overall impact of the COVID-19 pandemic in Tennessee. There are additional deaths that resulted either directly from the COVID-19 disease, or indirectly from the COVID-19 pandemic.<sup>53</sup> One method of identifying and quantifying the actual death toll from the pandemic is to assess excess deaths. Excess deaths are defined as the difference between the observed numbers of deaths in a specific time and expected numbers of deaths in the same time periods.<sup>54</sup> Taking this approach to assess overall loss of life is more likely to accurately capture the deaths that occurred due to the COVID-19 pandemic but may not be directly attributed to COVID-19 disease. However, delays in official data reporting often lead to delays in identifying spikes in excess mortality. This section will outline how excess mortality is calculated, assess excess mortality in Washington County, Tennessee in 2020 using three different data sources, and identify a relatively simple method for public health professionals to rapidly identify excess mortality using publicly available data.

#### BACKGROUND

While state-reported mortality data are the gold-standard for assessing total deaths in any area, these data have the disadvantage of not being readily available during an event associated with a short-term increase in mortality.<sup>55</sup> In Tennessee, mortality data is officially reported in October for the previous year, meaning that these data are anywhere from 10 to 22 months delayed in their reporting. The availability of mortality data can also vary widely by location and cause of death.<sup>56</sup>

It is important for local public health workers to have access to timely, accurate data to identify, and potentially respond to, unexpected or unanticipated increases in the number of deaths occurring in their communities. This study uses the COVID-19 pandemic as a natural experiment to identify potential public data sources that could be used to rapidly identify spikes in excess mortality at the county level. Two data sources that are publicly available and easily accessible to a local health officer include online listings of recent deaths by local funeral homes and obituaries published in local newspapers. The COVID-19 pandemic provided a unique opportunity to evaluate whether these two public data sources might be useful for identifying excess mortality in a timely way, at a local level.

Excess mortality, for the purposes of this study, will be defined using the CDC definition: "the difference between the observed numbers of deaths in specific time periods and expected numbers of deaths in the same time periods".<sup>57</sup>

A February 1, 2021, determination by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) for East Tennessee State University confirmed that IRB review and approval for this study was not required.

#### METHODS

#### ESTABLISHING A CALCULATION OF EXCESS MORTALITY

Four years of total mortality data for Washington County, Tennessee were obtained from the Tennessee Department of Health through a formal data request.<sup>58</sup> These data were analyzed, looking at month-by-month total reported deaths for 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020. Using a simple linear regression, deaths by month for 2017, 2018 and 2019 were used to predict expected deaths for each month of 2020 as the baseline for comparison. By subtracting expected 2020 monthly deaths from the actual monthly deaths, monthly number of excess deaths for 2020 were calculated. This calculated difference was then divided by the expected deaths for the same month to calculate percent change.

Excess Death Equation:

(2020 Actual – 2020 Expected) / 2020 Expected = Difference \*100 = % Difference

ESTABLISHING THE VALUE OF FUNERAL HOME AND NEWSPAPER OBITUARY DATA

#### Funeral Home Data:

Four years (2017-2020) of publicly available death listings were collected from four of the approximately eighteen funeral homes in Washington County, the second most populous county in Northeast Tennessee. Three of the funeral homes were identified as the most utilized in the region, and the fourth was selected because it was the most utilized by the region's African American population.

Webpage obituary listings from the funeral homes were counted and stratified by month based on date of death from January 2017 through December 2020 for each funeral home. The 2017-2019 monthly totals were used to create simple linear regressions for each month. These linear regressions were used to calculate expected total deaths for each month of 2020. These monthly expected listings were used as a baseline for comparison to the number of actual 2020 monthly listings. The difference between expected and actual 2020 counts was calculated for each month and then divided by the expected counts for the same month to calculate percent difference.

#### Newspaper Obituary Data:

The newspaper with the greatest local circulation, The *Johnson City Press*, was selected and four years of obituary listings were collected. These data were obtained from indexes maintained by the Johnson City Public Library. These indexes were quality checked by randomly identifying 10% of listings for review on the Johnson City Press online archive website. Collected obituary listings were stratified by month, based on the date of death, and the same linear regression calculations, outlined above, were applied to determine 2020 expected monthly listings.

# RESULTS

WASHINGTON COUNTY: MONTH-BY-MONTH EXCESS MORTALITY

In 2020, the Tennessee Department of Health reported 165 deaths from COVID-19 in Washington County with the first COVID-19 death occurring on July 28, 2020. However, the total number of excess deaths in 2020 in Washington County was 322 (1,489 expected vs. 1,811 actual), representing a 21.63% increase over the expected number of deaths. The 165 deaths attributed to COVID-19 represent only 51.24% of the total excess deaths in the county.

An analysis of month-by-month mortality data from the Tennessee Department of Health suggests that Washington County was seeing excess mortality prior to the first reported COVID-19 death. In the first quarter of 2020, Washington County experienced 30 excess deaths (386 expected vs. 416 actual), representing a 7.68% increase over the expected number of deaths. Of the 30 excess deaths, none were attributed to COVID-19.

In the second quarter of 2020, Washington County experienced 66 excess deaths (348 expected vs. 414 actual), representing an 18.85% increase over the expected number of deaths. Of the 66 excess deaths, none were attributed to COVID-19.

In the third quarter of 2020, Washington County experienced 47 excess deaths (388 expected vs. 435 actual), representing a 12.21% increase over the expected number of deaths. Of the 47 excess deaths, 38 (80.28%) were attributed to COVID-19.

In the final quarter of 2020, Washington County experienced 179 excess deaths (367 expected vs. 546 actual), representing a 48.91% increase over the expected number of deaths. Of the 179 excess deaths, 127 (70.82%) were attributed to COVID-19.

Table 1 shows the Tennessee Department of Health's number of reported COVID-19 deaths, by month and quarter, compared to the calculated excess mortality for Washington County. It also shows the percent of excess mortality attributed to COVID-19. There was, in retrospect, considerable under-recognition of COVID-19-related deaths in Washington County, Tennessee in 2020. It was not until August 2020 that the percent of excess deaths attributed to COVID-19 reach the 75-88% predicted by the CDC.<sup>60</sup>

Calculated Excess Mortality and COVID-19 Attributed Excess Mortality in Washington County, TN								
Month	2020 Expected Deaths	Actual Reported Deaths in 2020	Number of Excess Deaths	Percent Excess Deaths	COVID-19 Reported Deaths in 2020	Percent of Excess Deaths Attributed to COVID-19		
1st Quarter								
January	134.00	135	1.00	0.75%	-	0.00%		
February	123.33	137	13.67	11.08%	-	0.00%		
March	129.00	144	15.00	11.63%	_	0.00%		
Total	386.33	416	29.67	7.68%	_	0.00%		
2nd Quarter								
April	107.00	134	27.00	25.23%	-	0.00%		
May	123.33	131	7.67	6.22%	-	0.00%		
June	118.00	149	31.00	26.27%	-	0.00%		
Total	348.33	414	65.67	18.85%	-	0.00%		
			3rd Quarter					
July	122.00	139	17.00	13.93%	2	11.76%		
August	142.33	136	(6.33)	-4.45%	11	173.68%		
September	123.33	160	36.67	29.73%	25	68.18%		
Total	387.67	435	47.33	12.21%	38	80.28%		
4th Quarter								
October	123.67	156	32.33	26.15%	21	64.95%		
November	137.67	189	51.33	37.29%	49	95.45%		
December	105.33	201	95.67	90.82%	57	59.58%		
Total	366.67	546	179.33	48.91%	127	70.82%		
2020								
Total	1,489	1,811	322	21.63%	165	51.24%		

TABLE  $1^{\dagger}$ 

# USING FUNERAL HOME AND NEWSPAPER OBITUARY DATA

Funeral Home Listings:

The expected number of funeral home reports for 2020, based on our simple regression modeling, was 911. By quarter, there were 269, 212, 236 and 195 expected funeral home reports. The total actual listings in 2020 was 1,037, representing a 13.79% increase over the expected. By quarter, 2020 actual listings differed from the expected by Q1: -9.29%, Q2: 11.50%, Q3: 7.36% and Q4: 55.90%. Table 2 outlines funeral home listings (expected and actual) by quarter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>+</sup> 2020 Expected Deaths were calculated using 2017-2019 TDH data to create projections. Actual Reported Deaths in 2020 were obtained through a TDH data request. Number of Excess Deaths is the difference between 2020 Expected and 2020 Actual Reported Deaths. Percent Excess Deaths was calculated by dividing the Number of Excess Deaths by 2020 Expected Deaths. COVID-19 Reported Deaths in 2020 were obtained through TDH Downloadable Datasets. Percent of Excess Deaths Attributed to COVID-19 was calculated by dividing COVID-19 Reported Deaths in 2020 by Number of Excess Deaths.

Selected Funeral Home Reports in Washington County, TN						
Month	2020 Expected Reports	Actual Funeral Home Reports 2020	Number of Excess Funeral Reports	Percent Excess Funeral Reports		
		1st Quarter	-	-		
January	99	88	(11)	-10.81%		
February	77	80	3	3.45%		
March	93	76	(17)	-18.28%		
Total	269	244	(25)	-9.29%		
2nd Quarter						
April	83	77	(6)	-7.60%		
May	55	73	18	33.54%		
June	74	86	12	16.74%		
Total	212	236	24	11.50%		
3rd Quarter						
July	77	90	13	16.88%		
August	75	68	(7)	-9.73%		
September	83	95	12	14.00%		
Total	236	253	17	7.36%		
4th Quarter						
October	59	94	35	59.32%		
November	80	97	17	20.75%		
December	56	113	57	102.99%		
Total	195	304	109	55.90%		
2020						
Total 2020	911	1,037	126	13.79%		

TABLE 2<sup>‡</sup>

Newspaper Obituaries:

The expected number of newspaper obituaries for 2020, based on simple regression modeling, was 1,550. By quarter, there were 410, 345, 409, and 385 expected newspaper obituaries. The total actual newspaper obituaries in 2020 was 1,864 representing a 20.28% increase over the expected. By quarter, 2020 actual newspaper obituaries differed from the expected by Q1: 8.05%, Q2: 20.00%, Q3: 9.93% and Q4: 44.55%. Table 3 outlines newspaper obituary listings (expected and actual) by quarter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>‡</sup> 2020 Expected Reports were calculated using 2017-2019 Funeral Home data to create projections. Actual Funeral Home Reports 2020 were obtained from funeral home websites. Number of Excess Funeral Reports is the difference between 2020 Expected and 2020 Actual Reported Deaths. Percent Excess Funeral Reports was calculated by dividing the Number of Excess Funeral Reports by 2020 Expected Reports.

The newspaper obituary excess mortality percentages closely paralleled the calculated excess mortality for Washington County outlined above using state reported data. The most notable difference being that the newspaper obituary data was available in near real time, whereas the state reported Washington County data was not made available until October of 2021.

Selected Obituary Reports in Washington County, TN							
Month	2020 Expected Reports	Actual Newspaper Obituaries 2020	Number of Excess Newspaper Obituaries	Percent Excess Newspaper Obituaries			
1st Quarter							
January	154.67	146	(8.67)	-5.60%			
February	117.33	140	22.67	19.32%			
March	138.00	157	19.00	13.77%			
Total	410.00	443	33.00	8.05%			
	2nd Quarter						
April	112.67	136	23.33	20.71%			
May	120.00	122	2.00	1.67%			
June	112.33	156	43.67	38.87%			
Total	345.00	414	69.00	20.00%			
		3rd Quarter					
July	141.00	137	(4.00)	-2.84%			
August	144.00	140	(4.00)	-2.78%			
September	124.33	173	48.67	39.14%			
Total	409.33	450	40.67	9.93%			
4th Quarter							
October	126.67	170	43.33	34.21%			
November	132.67	172	39.33	29.65%			
December	126.00	215	89.00	70.63%			
Total	385.33	557	171.67	44.55%			
2020							
Total 2020	1,550	1,864	314	20.28%			

TABLE 3§

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>§</sup> 2020 Expected Reports were calculated using 2017-2019 Obituary data to create projections. Actual Newspaper Obituaries 2020 were obtained from newspaper listings. Number of Excess Newspaper Obituaries is the difference between 2020 Expected and 2020 Actual Newspaper Obituaries. Percent Excess Newspaper Obituaries was calculated by dividing the Number of Excess Funeral Reports by 2020 Expected Reports.

#### DISCUSSION

Given the extensive media coverage of the pandemic, it is hard to imagine that excess deaths associated with COVID-19 were not recognized from the earliest days of the pandemic. However, as documented in this report, the percent of excess deaths in Washington County attributed to COVID-19 in 2020 varied significantly with under-recognition taking place in the early months of the pandemic. This analysis of excess mortality in Washington County in 2020 documents that, despite considerable media attention focused on the COVID-19 pandemic, there was both an under-recognition, and a substantial delay in identifying excess mortality associated with the COVID-19 pandemic.

The failure or delay in recognition of excess deaths can have multiple public health implications. For example, in the case of COVID-19, delay in recognizing excess mortality may have contributed to the difficulty in convincing the public of the significance of the pandemic, especially in the face of suggestions coming from national-level officials and news outlets that the severity of the pandemic was being exaggerated as mentioned in Section 1 of this report.<sup>60,61</sup> During non-pandemic times, failure to recognize excess mortality could result in delays in recognizing, or even failure to recognize, an unanticipated cause of death in a community. Because state level death data can take over a year to be made available to local public health officials, they may not be particularly useful for local and state-level health officials in identifying and responding to unexpected changes in the number of deaths in a region.

The COVID-19 pandemic provided a useful natural experiment to see if online funeral home listings and/or newspaper obituaries could have provided local health officials an early indication that deaths were exceeding the expectations of death data trends. This study documents that online public reports from selected funeral homes and newspaper obituary listings can provide local health officers, with useful, accessible, and reliable "real time" indications of excess mortality within their region.

When comparing online funeral listings and newspaper obituaries to state reported data for Washington County (Figure 4 and Figure 5), it is clear that either of the public data sources could have been used to identify spikes in excess mortality throughout 2020. The trend of funeral listings (Figure 4) shows peaks and valleys that are relatively consistent with state health department data with the first major spike occurring in May 2020, and two additional larger spikes in October and December 2020. However, with the public data sources available and the current utilization of funeral listing and obituary services in Washington County, it is clear to see that newspaper obituaries more closely mirror the Tennessee Department of Health date for Washington County (Figure 5). Aside from very minor differences in February and June, the two lines in Figure 4 are remarkably similar. Therefore, had this technique for identifying excess mortality been employed prior to the pandemic, health officials in Washington County, Tennessee would have begun seeing increases in mortality as early as February 2020 and these trends would have later, in October 2021, been corroborated by state health department data.



FIGURE 4



Because state level death data can take over a year to be made available to local public health officials,<sup>56</sup> there is the possibility that a short-term increase in deaths may not be immediately obvious. Creating a historical month-by-month registry of the number of deaths in the region, collated from a selected number of funeral homes and/or newspaper obituaries is an inexpensive and relatively quick method for local health officials to have an early indication that something has changed in their region.

While this study was conducted during the COVID-19 pandemic, when it was widely recognized that there were excess deaths, the results would be applicable in a wide variety of settings such as the introduction of heroin laced with an unprecedented amount of Fentanyl, an unrecognized contamination of drinking water or other consumer product, or an environmental pollutant. Based on these findings, it could be beneficial for health officials to create and maintain a database of deaths at a city or county level, based on funeral home data and newspaper obituaries that could serve as an early indicator that a change has happened in the number of deaths in their region. Though not done in this study, in larger regions, it may also be possible to create more specific databases that reflect changes in death rates for different age, race, gender or socioeconomic groups, over time.

#### LIMITATIONS

There are several caveats and limitations to using funeral home and/or obituary data to identify excess mortality in any region. Importantly, neither is an accurate reflection of total deaths in a region. For example, not everyone who dies will have their funeral service held in the region where they die. Conversely, some people who die outside the region will have a local funeral service and/or a locally reported obituary. An additional limitation is that it isn't possible, from this type of review, to identify the cause of the excess mortality.

Additionally, creating simple linear regressions with only three years of data lends itself to inaccuracies. This was done because, at the time of data collection, online funeral home listings prior to 2017 were unattainable. However, since the method for establishing 2020 monthly expected deaths was replicated for all data sources using the same number of years, it is believed that the comparisons provided are valid. This limitation would also be addressed in time, given that the longer this data is collected, the more years of data would be available for use in the regression modeling, thereby strengthening confidence in expected death calculations.

Finally, while online funeral listings and newspaper obituaries were readily available data sources in Washington County, TN, the utilization, and composition of public death listing sources in each region is likely to vary. This study should be considered a pilot study and, should public health professionals seek to employ these techniques for identifying excess mortality, they should identify the most utilized and reliable data sources available in their region. Undoubtedly, this is an imperfect technique that is susceptible to inaccuracy and should never be the only process employed for identifying increases in mortality. However, it can be another, relatively simple and useful, tool in the local public health professional's arsenal that can be used to rapidly identify and react to potential threats to the health of a community.

### CONCLUSION

After collecting and analyzing four years of mortality data from three distinct sources, two publicly available and one state health department managed, it is clear that two public data sources (online funeral listings and newspaper obituaries) could have been used to quickly identifying excess mortality in a community. Using the COVID-19 pandemic as a natural experiment, data were collected, and relatively simple statistical analyses were conducted to establish the expected deaths for the year 2020. Actual deaths in 2020 were then compared to identify excess mortality. In the wake of the devastating COVID-19 pandemic, the technique outlined in this report could be used to identify future public health threats and ultimately prevent the loss of life at the city/county level. This has significant implications for local and state-level public health leaders, and others who currently rely on "official" state-level mortality data, which may not be available for a year or more after the deaths occur. Online funeral home listings and newspaper obituaries provide an accessible and inexpensive "real time" mechanism to identify excess mortality.

# REFERENCES

- 1. Holmes EC, Goldstein SA, Rasmussen AL, et al. The origins of SARS-CoV-2: A critical review. *Cell*. 2021;184(19):4848-4856. doi:10.1016/J.CELL.2021.08.017
- 2. Wang H, Li X, Li T, et al. The genetic sequence, origin, and diagnosis of SARS-CoV-2. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases*. 2020;39(9):1. doi:10.1007/S10096-020-03899-4
- 3. The Coronavirus Pandemic: A Timeline The New York Times. Accessed December 14, 2021. https://www.nytimes.com/article/coronavirus-timeline.html
- 4. First coronavirus death reported in Tennessee, state officials confirm. Accessed December 14, 2021. https://www.tennessean.com/story/news/health/2020/03/20/first-coronavirus-death-tennessee-reported-nashville-davidson-county/2886440001/
- 5. TDH Announces First Case of COVID-19 in Tennessee. Accessed December 14, 2021. https://www.tn.gov/health/news/2020/3/5/tdh-announces-first-case-of-covid-19-in-tennessee.html
- 6. Downloadable Datasets. Accessed November 29, 2021. https://www.tn.gov/health/cedep/ncov/data/downloadable-datasets.html
- Chorba T. The Concept of the Crown and Its Potential Role in the Downfall of Coronavirus. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*. 2020;26(9):2302. doi:10.3201/EID2609.AC2609
- 8. Ali A. Rabaan, Shamsah H. Al-Ahmed, Shafiul Haque, et al. SARS-CoV-2, SARS-CoV, and MERS-CoV: a comparative overview. *Le Infezioni in Medicina*. 2020;28(2):174-184.
- Abdelrahman Z, Li M, Wang X. Comparative Review of SARS-CoV-2, SARS-CoV, MERS-CoV, and Influenza A Respiratory Viruses. *Frontiers in Immunology*. 2020;11:2309. doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2020.552909/BIBTEX
- Greenhalgh T, Jimenez JL, Prather KA, Tufekci Z, Fisman D, Schooley R. Ten scientific reasons in support of airborne transmission of SARS-CoV-2. *The Lancet*. 2021;397(10285):1603-1605. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00869-2
- 11. MERS Transmission | CDC. Accessed December 13, 2021. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/mers/about/transmission.html
- 12. SARS | Frequently Asked Questions | CDC. Accessed December 13, 2021. https://www.cdc.gov/sars/about/faq.html
- 13. Leung NHL. Transmissibility and transmission of respiratory viruses. *Nature Reviews Microbiology 2021 19:8.* 2021;19(8):528-545. doi:10.1038/s41579-021-00535-6
- Peiris JSM, Phil D, Yuen KY, Osterhaus ADME, Stöhr K. The Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome. *https://doi.org/101056/NEJMra032498*. 2009;349(25):2431-2441. doi:10.1056/NEJMRA032498

- 15. Zumla A, Hui DS, Perlman S. Middle East respiratory syndrome. *Lancet (London, England)*. 2015;386(9997):995. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60454-8
- 16. A Timeline of COVID-19 Developments in 2020. Accessed December 13, 2021. https://www.ajmc.com/view/a-timeline-of-covid19-developments-in-2020
- 17. Zoonotic Diseases | One Health | CDC. Accessed December 14, 2021. https://www.cdc.gov/onehealth/basics/zoonotic-diseases.html
- 8 Zoonotic Diseases Shared Between Animals and People of Most Concern in the U.S. | CDC Online Newsroom | CDC. Accessed December 14, 2021. https://www.cdc.gov/media/releases/2019/s0506-zoonotic-diseases-shared.html
- 19. China Reports First Death From New Virus The New York Times. Accessed December 14, 2021. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/01/10/world/asia/china-virus-wuhan-death.html
- 20. CDC Museum COVID-19 Timeline | David J. Sencer CDC Museum | CDC. Accessed December 14, 2021. https://www.cdc.gov/museum/timeline/covid19.html
- 21. Wuhan Coronavirus: C.D.C. Identifies First U.S. Case in Washington State The New York Times. Accessed December 14, 2021. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/01/21/health/cdc-coronavirus.html
- 22. Determination that a Public Health Emergency Exists. Accessed December 14, 2021. https://www.phe.gov/emergency/news/healthactions/phe/Pages/2019-nCoV.aspx
- 23. Coroner: First US COVID-19 death occurred in early February | CIDRAP. Accessed December 14, 2021. https://www.cidrap.umn.edu/news-perspective/2020/04/coroner-firstus-covid-19-death-occurred-early-february
- 24. 1st Known U.S. COVID-19 Death Was Weeks Earlier Than Previously Thought : Coronavirus Updates : NPR. Accessed December 14, 2021. https://www.npr.org/sections/coronavirus-live-updates/2020/04/22/840836618/1st-known-u-s-covid-19-death-was-on-feb-6-a-post-mortem-test-reveals
- 25. Covid is officially America's deadliest pandemic as U.S. fatalities surpass 1918 flu estimates. Accessed January 6, 2022. https://www.cnbc.com/2021/09/20/covid-is-americas-deadliest-pandemic-as-us-fatalities-near-1918-flu-estimates.html
- Lafond KE, Nair H, Rasooly MH, et al. Global Role and Burden of Influenza in Pediatric Respiratory Hospitalizations, 1982–2012: A Systematic Analysis. *PLoS Medicine*. 2021;13(3). doi:10.1371/JOURNAL.PMED.1001977
- 27. September 11 Fast Facts | CNN. Accessed December 31, 2021. https://www.cnn.com/2013/07/27/us/september-11-anniversary-fast-facts/
- 28. WHO. RECOMMENDED ACTIONS BEFORE, DURING AND AFTER A PANDEMIC. *World Health Organization*. Published online 2009:30. Accessed December 30, 2021. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK143063/

- 29. World Health Organization. ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES IN PREPAREDNESS AND RESPONSE. *Who*. Published online 2009:82. Accessed December 30, 2021. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK143067/
- Pueyo T. Coronavirus: The Hammer and the Dance. *Medium*. Published online 2020. Accessed December 17, 2021. https://tomaspueyo.medium.com/coronavirus-the-hammerand-the-dance-be9337092b56
- 31. No. 27. EXECUTIVE ORDER BY THE GOVERNOR AN ORDER EXTENDING TEMPORARY SOCIAL DISTANCING AND STAY-AT-HOME PROVISIONS OF EXECUTIVE ORDER NOS.
- 32. Tennessee Gov. Bill Lee won't extend coronavirus stay-at-home order. Accessed January 1, 2022. https://www.tennessean.com/story/news/politics/2020/04/20/tennessee-gov-wont-extend-coronavirus-home-order/5166816002/
- 33. Zhang X, Warner ME. COVID-19 Policy Differences across US States: Shutdowns, Reopening, and Mask Mandates. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health Article*. doi:10.3390/ijerph17249520
- 34. Epi Curves. Accessed January 2, 2022. https://www.tn.gov/health/cedep/ncov/data/epi-curves.html
- 35. Months Into Virus Crisis, U.S. Cities Still Lack Testing Capacity The New York Times. Accessed January 2, 2022. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/07/06/us/coronavirus-test-shortage.html
- 36. COVID-19 testing problems started early, U.S. still playing from behind | Modern Healthcare. Accessed January 2, 2022. https://www.modernhealthcare.com/technology/covid-19-testing-problems-started-earlyus-still-playing-behind
- Supply Shortages Impacting COVID-19 and Non-COVID Testing. Accessed January 2, 2022. https://asm.org/Articles/2020/September/Clinical-Microbiology-Supply-Shortage-Collecti-1
- 38. Mercer TR, Salit M. Testing at scale during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Nature Reviews Genetics 2021 22:7.* 2021;22(7):415-426. doi:10.1038/s41576-021-00360-w
- 39. Cohen J. The United States badly bungled coronavirus testing—but things may soon improve. *Science*. Published online February 28, 2020. doi:10.1126/SCIENCE.ABB5152
- Kretzschmar ME, Rozhnova G, Bootsma MCJ, van Boven M, van de Wijgert JHHM, Bonten MJM. Impact of delays on effectiveness of contact tracing strategies for COVID-19: a modelling study. *The Lancet Public Health*. 2020;5(8):e452-e459. doi:10.1016/S2468-2667(20)30157-2
- 41. Fetzer T, Graeber T. Measuring the scientific effectiveness of contact tracing: Evidence from a natural experiment. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United*

*States of America*. 2021;118(33). doi:10.1073/PNAS.2100814118/-/DCSUPPLEMENTAL

- 42. Hollowed-Out Public Health System Faces More Cuts Amid Virus | Kaiser Health News. Accessed January 2, 2022. https://khn.org/news/us-public-health-system-underfundedunder-threat-faces-more-cuts-amid-covid-pandemic/
- 43. Understaffed, underfunded, under siege: US public health amid COVID-19 | CIDRAP. Accessed January 2, 2022. https://www.cidrap.umn.edu/newsperspective/2021/10/understaffed-underfunded-under-siege-us-public-health-amid-covid-19
- 44. The Impact of Chronic Underfunding on America's Public Health System: Trends, Risks, and Recommendations, 2020 tfah. Accessed January 2, 2022. https://www.tfah.org/report-details/publichealthfunding2020/
- 45. Tennessee Gov. Bill Lee gives State of the State, unveils 2022 budget. Accessed January 2, 2022. https://www.tennessean.com/story/news/politics/2021/02/09/tennessee-gov-bill-lee-state-state-unveils-2022-budget/4404242001/
- Gov. Lee Grants Mayors in 89 Counties Authority to Issue COVID-19 Mask Requirements. Accessed January 1, 2022. https://www.tn.gov/governor/news/2020/7/3/gov--lee-grants-mayors-in-89-countiesauthority-to-issue-covid-19-mask-requirements.html
- 47. As Cases Spread Across U.S. Last Year, Pattern Emerged Suggesting Link Between Governors' Party Affiliation and COVID-19 Case and Death Numbers | Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health. Accessed January 2, 2022. https://publichealth.jhu.edu/2021/as-cases-spread-across-us-last-year-pattern-emergedsuggesting-link-between-governors-party-affiliation-and-covid-19-case-and-deathnumbers
- 48. Politics, health data held almost equal sway in states' COVID-19 restrictions | UW News. Accessed January 2, 2022. https://www.washington.edu/news/2021/10/01/republican-led-states-lifted-pandemic-restrictions-earlier-study-finds/
- Adolph C, Amano K, Bang-Jensen B, et al. The Pandemic Policy U-Turn: Partisanship, Public Health, and Race in Decisions to Ease COVID-19 Social Distancing Policies in the United States. *Perspectives on Politics*. Published online 2021:1-23. doi:10.1017/S1537592721002036
- 50. Neelon B, Mutiso F, Mueller NT, Pearce JL, Benjamin-Neelon SE. Associations between governor political affiliation and COVID-19 cases, deaths, and testing in the United States. *medRxiv*. Published online January 6, 2021. doi:10.1101/2020.10.08.20209619
- 51. Staff S. The United States leads in coronavirus cases, but not pandemic response. *Science*. Published online April 1, 2020. doi:10.1126/SCIENCE.ABC0192

- 52. First coronavirus death reported in Tennessee, state officials confirm. Accessed November 28, 2021. https://www.tennessean.com/story/news/health/2020/03/20/first-coronavirus-death-tennessee-reported-nashville-davidson-county/2886440001/
- Iuliano AD, Chang HH, Patel NN, et al. Estimating under-recognized COVID-19 deaths, United States, march 2020-may 2021 using an excess mortality modelling approach. Published online 2021. doi:10.1016/j.lana.2021.10
- 54. Excess Deaths Associated with COVID-19. Accessed November 28, 2021. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nvss/vsrr/covid19/excess\_deaths.htm
- 55. Rivera R, Rosenbaum JE, Quispe W. Excess mortality in the united states during the first three months of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Epidemiology and Infection*. 2020;148. doi:10.1017/S0950268820002617
- 56. Spencer MR, Ahmad F. Vital Statistics Rapid Release Special Report Timeliness of Death Certificate Data for Mortality Surveillance and Provisional Estimates.; 2016.
- 57. Excess Deaths Associated with COVID-19. Accessed March 5, 2021. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nvss/vsrr/covid19/excess\_deaths.htm
- 58. Vital Statistics. Accessed November 28, 2021. https://www.tn.gov/health/health-programareas/statistics/health-data/vital-statistics.html
- U.S. Census Bureau QuickFacts: Washington County, Tennessee. Accessed February 25, 2022. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/washingtoncountytennessee/POP010220#PO P010220
- Rossen LM, Branum AM, Ahmad FB, Sutton PD, Anderson RN. Notes from the Field: Update on Excess Deaths Associated with the COVID-19 Pandemic — United States, January 26, 2020–February 27, 2021. MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2021;70(15):570-571. doi:10.15585/MMWR.MM7015A4
- 61. Coates RD. The Perfect Storm: US Missteps, Belligerence, and Racial Legacies: https://doi.org/101177/0896920520972158. 2020;47(4-5):555-570. doi:10.1177/0896920520972158